ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE JUDI CI ARY STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 27, 2015
1:34 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Lesil McQuire, Chair
Senat or John Coghill, Vice Chair
Senator M a Costello

Senator Peter M cciche

Senator Bill W el echowski

MEMBERS ABSENT

Al'l nenbers present

COW TTEE CALENDAR

LEGQ SLATI VE HEARI NG CRI ME RATES | N ANCHORAGE
- HEARD

PREVI QUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON

No previous action to record

W TNESS REGQ STER

DETECTI VE JEFF BELL, Vice President

Anchor age Police Departnent Enpl oyees Associ ati on ( APDEA)

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Participated in the discussion of crine
rates in Anchorage.

GARY FOLGER, Commi ssi oner

Department of Public Safety (DPS)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provi ded an overview of crinme in Anchorage

and di scussed staffing cuts.
JAKE METCALFE, Executive Director

Publ ic Safety Enpl oyees Associ ation
Anchor age, Al aska

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -1- March 27, 2015



PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provi ded PSEA's perspective of the crine
rates in Anchorage.

DAN SULLI VAN, Mayor

Muni ci pality of Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided his perspective of crine rates in
Anchor age.

CHRI STOPHER ALLRI DGE, Correctional Oficer |1

Anchor age Correctional Conpl ex

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Provided his perspective of the gang
popul ation in the Anchorage Correctional Conpl ex.

OTHER LEQ SLATORS PRESENT

Senator Johnny Ellis
Senator Berta Gardner

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

1:34:56 PM

CHAIR LESIL MCGQURE <called the Senate Judiciary Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 1:34 p.m Present at the call to
order were Senators Costello, Welechowski, and Chair MQire
Senators Ellis and Gardner al so attended the neeting.

Legi sl ative Hearing: Crine Rates in Anchorage

CHAI R MCGUI RE announced the business before the commttee would
be a discussion of the recent spike in crinme rates in Anchorage.
She revi ewed t he agenda.

1:36: 09 PM

SENATOR JOHNNY ELLIS thanked the chair for holding the hearings.
He clarified that legislators are concerned about crime in all
areas of the state, but there has been an uptick in crine
recently in Anchorage and they wanted an opportunity to talk
with those who work with this every day. He opined that what
comes out of this discussion could be instructive for the entire
state.

CHAIR MCGUIRE agreed that it is unusual to focus on just one
area, but it is deeply concerning that crinme rates in Anchorage

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 2- March 27, 2015



are doubling. She advised that the focus will be to | ook at ways
to partner and help the community | ower these rates.

1:37:31 PM

DETECTI VE JEFF BELL, Vice President, Anchorage Police Departnent
Enpl oyees Association (APDEA), shared that he's been in |aw
enforcement for 19 years, all of which has been wth the
Anchorage Police Departnent. For the first 9-10 years he worked
the swng shift, alnost exclusively in the Spenard area. He saw
a lot of activity related to drugs and prostitution related to
drugs and becane interested in those types of investigations. He
was on the APD SWAT team for about 13 years and left about a
year ago. Prior to becomng a detective, he worked in the
speci al assignment unit investigating street-level drugs, high-
risk search warrants, high-risk arrest warrants, and other
probl em of -the-day activities. Oficers in that unit are highly
trained and skilled as SWAT officers and are noved around the
city as needed to conbat those crines. Responding to a question,
he said his duties did not cover sex trafficking.

DETECTI VE BELL related that for three of the years he was in the
speci al assignnent unit he also was a safe streets task force
officer at the FBI working gang crime, violent crines, and drug
investigations. He 1is currently a crinmes against children
detective investigating sex and abuse crines against children
age 15 and under.

1:40: 22 PM
SENATOR M CCI CHE joined the commttee.

DETECTIVE BELL stated that his goal today was to give the
perspective of a person who worked in the trenches the last five
or six years when APD experienced a fairly drastic change in
policing philosophy. Responding to a request to elaborate, he
explained that as the nunbers at APD dw ndled, people in the
street-level drug unit, the special assignnent unit, and the
vice unit were noved to other areas. In 2010 the vice unit had
17 people, the special assignnent/gang unit had 18 people. Today
the vice unit has 5 people and the special assignnment unit has 7
peopl e. He summari zed the responsibilities of the two units. The
vice unit does high-level multi buys and the special assignnent
unit generally does one-tine buy busts. Because of the staff
reductions, they've gone from very proactive drug enforcenent to
a very reactive departnment that only responds to calls fromthe
public.

1: 43: 43 PM

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 3- March 27, 2015



SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI  asked what proactive drug enforcenent
means, why it's effective, and how it's been dimnished by staff
reducti ons.

DETECTI VE BELL expl ained that drug reports generally are officer
initiated (A) activities, not from citizens. Drug
investigations typically were done by police officers after
stopping a car or wusing informants to purchase drugs or "junp
outs." Oficers wuld sit in undercover vehicles in a parking
lot like Dinond Center or Fred Meyer and look for a drug deal
They're easy to spot. If the officers didn't see sonething in
about 30 mnutes they'd nove to another location. Drug deal ers
qui ckly figure out there's enforcenent if officers are there on
a fairly regular basis. R ght now officers aren't engaging in
A activities enough to discourage the crimnal behavior.

1:46: 57 PM
SENATOR M CCl CHE asked how the definition of rape has changed.

DETECTI VE BELL replied the new definition includes penetration
no matter how slight. The old definition didn't specifically
mention penetration so the interpretation vari ed.

SENATOR M CCI CHE asked if the 2012 nunbers would increase if the
new definition was used.

DETECTI VE BELL answered yes. The annual statistical report for
2013 has a slightly higher nunber of rapes under the new
definition as opposed to the old one.

CHAI R MCGUI RE st ated support for the new definition

SENATOR M CClI CHE observed that for 2009-2012 the average nunber
of forcible rapes per year was 280 and for 2013 it was 408.

DETECTI VE BELL said that when he was asked to discuss the recent
hom ci des in Anchorage, he visited the detective units to gather
recent data on arrest nunbers. This year Anchorage has had 33
shootings and 10 adult homcides. Al 10 hom cides are believed
to be drug related and marijuana was the prinmary drug associ ated
with the hom cide. Four of the hom cides occurred during a "drug
rip." That is a termfor a purchase or sale agreenent that goes
bad. Two of those were marijuana sal es.

1: 50: 52 PM
SENATOR COSTELLO asked if he's followed other |egal nmarijuana
states and if there's a trend that can be expected.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -4- March 27, 2015



DETECTIVE BELL replied he hasn't followed other states, but he
believes the trend is fairly predictable.

CHAIR MCQUIRE said it would be interesting to |ook at how the
crime rates have changed in states that have regulated
marijuana. She asked if that was sonething he could help the
commttee with in the future.

DETECTI VE BELL commented on the different types of enforcenent
once it's legalized.

Continuing his testinony, he said APD s response to the recent
shootings was to develop a taskforce. It consists of the
remnants of the special assignnent and vice wunits and sone
community action policing (CAP) nenbers. He noted that he'd
heard that the taskforce would be dismantled once the crine
uptick falls, and warned that the only way to keep crinme rates
down is to keep the pressure on. He pointed out that there's no
way to neasure the nunber of crinmes that are prevented by O
activities so those nunbers don't appear in the Uniform Crine
Report (UCR). He offered to share the data showi ng the nunber of
arrests the drug units made, which is the only way to neasure
what they' ve done.

SENATOR M CCI CHE reviewed the of UCR Index Crimes sunmary sheet
in the packet and observed that the nunbers are trendi ng upward.
He noted that the largest increases are in forcible rape,
burglary, and l|arceny-theft. He asked Detective Bell what he
attributes those increases to.

DETECTI VE BELL said that according to the APD property crines
supervi sor, 85-90 percent of property crines have a drug nexus.
In 2014 APD disbanded the theft wunit and shifted those
responsibilities to the burglary unit. Wat he |earned when he
visited the unit was that if the value of the stolen property is
less than $10,000, it isn't assigned to a detective for
investigation. The responding officer is obligated to do a
follow up on the crine. Before the theft wunit was disbanded,
felony level thefts ($750 and higher) were assigned to
detectives in the theft unit to be investigated.

1:59: 24 PM
SENATOR COCGHI LL joined the commttee.

DETECTI VE BELL, responding to a coment, clarified that if
sonebody is arrested for the crine the matter is forwarded to

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 5- March 27, 2015



the district attorney and charges are filed if there is probable
cause.

CHAIR MCGQUIRE said the point of the hearing is to |look at the
areas that m ght be neglected so she appreciates the candor. She
recapped that the special arrest unit has gone from 18 to 7; the
gang unit has gone from 17 to 5; and there's no longer a theft
investigation unit. Now there isn't an investigation unless the
property is valued at nore than $10, 000.

SENATOR M CCI CHE observed that as funding is cut, trends that
nobody |i kes to see can be expected.

2:01:33 PM

DETECTIVE BELL added that when staffing levels drop so
drastically, the admnistration has to prioritize and nake
deci sions about what crines wll be investigated because there
are a lot of other crimes to consider. Responding to a question
about a suspect report, he explained that even when there was a
theft unit not all reports were investigated. Sonetines there
was no suspect information or physical evidence to investigate.
Right now, there aren't many investigators and theft crines
aren't assigned unless they neet the $10, 000 fl oor.

DETECTIVE BELL reviewed the data he gathered on APD drug
arrests. In 2010, there were 914 drug arrests and 245 were for
sales or manufacturing. In 2014, there were 397 arrests for
drug-related crimes and 67 were for sales or manufacturing. He
opined that this highlights the inportance of having drug units
i nvestigate those crines.

2:04: 24 PM

SENATOR COSTELLO nentioned an article she read about a program
that sone police departnments are using that is a predicting
crime algorithm She asked if he was famliar with it.

DETECTI VE BELL said he didn't know much about it.

CHAIR MCGUIRE opined that it's an interesting concept to think
about in the future.

2:05:14 PM

SENATOR GARDNER noted that the chart show ng 2004- 2008 vs. 2009-
2014 historical crime trends in Anchorage didn't have a category
for drug crines. She asked if that category was omtted or if
it's enbedded in another category.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 6- March 27, 2015



DETECTIVE BELL said he wasn't famliar with the chart. The
nunbers he gathered were intended to highlight what APD is doing
based on out cones.

CHAIR MCGUI RE distributed a copy of the chart and advised that
it was issued by the mayor's task force.

SENATOR M CCICHE said he assunes that the increases in the UCR
rates of forcible rape are likely drug rel ated.

DETECTI VE BELL responded that the 2013 statistical report on the
MOA website reports that 50 percent of the sex crinmes are
al cohol related, 10 percent to 12 percent are both drug and
al cohol related, and a small percentage are drug rel ated

SENATOR M CCI CHE asked if he could single out one program that
is wunderfunded that <could nmake a serious dent in in the
i ncreasing trends for drug-related crines.

DETECTIVE BELL answered no; his knowedge is from the beat
perspective and the point he's making is that staffing |evels
have to be high enough to proactively nmake drug-rel ated arrests.

CHAIR MCGQUIRE noted that he was describing cuts to specific
units that have a singular focus, which is what Senator M cciche
was referencing. She asked if there is specialized training for
singul ar focus areas |i ke the gang unit.

DETECTI VE BELL explained that when there was a gang unit, an
"intel" officer sat in the unit and gathered information on al
the gangs. They had weekly neetings to share information wth
probations, the Departnment of Corrections, MLaughlin Youth
Center, school resource officers, and the troopers. They knew
the players and had a feel for what was happening. Honi cide
detectives today have to start from scratch on every
i nvestigation.

2:11:44 PM

SENATOR COSTELLO asked him to discuss the inpact of 1o0sing
trained police officers who take jobs elsewhere and not
realizing a benefit from the noney that was spent on their
trai ni ng.

DETECTIVE BELL said it's nore and nore difficult to recruit and
retain qualified candidates. What would really help is to have a
defined benefit program for public safety that would give new
officers a reason to stay. Now they're taking their training and

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -7- March 27, 2015



experience and the noney that's been spent on them and going
somewhere el se to work.

SENATOR COSTELLO asked if APD does exit interviews so it knows
t he reason that officers are |eaving.

DETECTI VE BELL clarified that the union does exit interviews.

He shared arrest nunbers for officer initiated (O) activities
to illustrate that when officers have tinme to be proactive,
crime decreases.

e 2009 - 206 arrests for prostitution; 2014 - 29 arrests.
e 2009 - 2,216 DU arrests; 2014 - 1,015 arrests.

e 2009 - 926 arrests for liquor law violations; 2014 - 197
arrests.

e 2009 - 459 arrests for mnor consunm ng al cohol; 2014 - 96
arrests.

e 2009 - 45,361 traffic citations were issued; 2013 - 22,818
traffic citations were issued.

e 2009 - 296,636 calls for service; 2013 - 239,765 calls for
servi ce.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI opined that a big reason for the drop in
calls for service is that people don't get a response when they
call.

2:17:16 PM

DETECTI VE BELL advised that in 2010 MOA contracted with the
Police Executive Research Forum (PERF) to evaluate APD s
resource allocation. The adm nistrative goal at that tine was
for officers to spend 40 percent of their unallocated tine on
community policing. He noted that the police officers he spoke
with this last week indicated that they have essentially no
unal | ocated tinme. They're witing reports and running call-to-
call and don't have tine to do traffic stops and officer
initiated drug activities.

SENATOR COSTELLO asked when the reports have to be witten and
if the requirenents have becone nore onerous.

DETECTIVE BELL replied it probably differs from shift to shift

but the officers working from 11:00 pm to 8:00 am don't have
time to wite their reports right after an event takes pl ace.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 8- March 27, 2015



He reported that in 2009 APD had 414 sworn police officers and
in 2010 there were 374 sworn officers. The PERF report
recommended increasing staffing to 456 officers in order to
reach the 40 percent goal of wunallocated tine for community
policing. In June 2014 the APD sworn officer nunbers dropped to
321, plus an acadeny of 17. He expressed hope that the foregoing
information denonstrates the need for increasing staffing and
bringi ng back the two special assignnment units.

CHAI R MCGUI RE t hanked Detective Bell and recogni zed Conm ssioner
Fol ger.

2:22:29 PM

GARY FOLCGER, Comm ssioner, Departnent of Public Safety (DPS),
di scussed partnering with the APD Task Force and warned that the
increase in violent crine in Anchorage can predictably spread to
ot her communi ti es.

CHAI R MCAUI RE asked himto el aborat e.

COWMWM SSI ONER FOLGER said that one of his largest challenges as
conmi ssioner is to provide rural law enforcenment; the crines
that occur in urban areas inevitably spread and it takes
specialized units to do the investigations. He nentioned drug
crinmes and sex trafficking and noted that the homcide rate in
Al aska dropped in the | ast decade.

CHAIR MCGQUI RE asked how he would characterize the wuptick in
crime between 2009 and 2015.

COW SSI ONER FOLGER replied it's based on societal norns.
CHAI R MCCGUI RE asked what he reconmmends goi ng forward.

COMWM SSI ONER  FOLGER responded that it's a conbination of
i ntervention, prevention, and enforcenent.

SENATOR M CCl CHE asked what the state and nunicipalities can do
together to make Alaska an unpleasant place for bad guys to
live.

COW SSIONER FOLGER cited interaction between police agencies,
the exchange of information through the fusion center,
partnering, and the Al aska Records Managenent System ( ARVS)

CHAIR MCGQUI RE asked if ARMS information is shared on the |oca
police |evel

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 9- March 27, 2015



COW SSI ONER FOLGER confirnmed that DPS has shared with snaller
depart nents.

CHAI R MCGU RE thanked Commi ssioner Folger and recognized Jake
Met cal f e.

2:30: 52 PM

JAKE WMETCALFE, Executive Director, Public Safety Enployees
Associ ation, (PSEA), advised that the union represents 700 to
800 sworn and unsworn public safety enployees throughout the
state. This includes Al aska State Troopers from trooper through
sergeant |evel, court service officers, and various nunicipal
police officers.

He stated concern that there hasn't been any growth in public
safety enployees since 2009 vyet the state's population is
increasing. He referenced the UAA statistics from August 2014
that show that Alaska is well below the national standard of 370
sworn officers for each 100,000 in population. Responding to a
request from the chair, he agreed to forward the information to
the comm tt ee.

MR. METCALFE al so suggested the committee | ook at the Indian Law
and Order Conmm ssion Report from 2013. It provides a statew de
rural perspective of Ilaw enforcenent. One statistic that's
mentioned is that DPS provides 1 to 1.4 field officers per
mllion acres, but the ratio of officers to territory is
actually nuch |ower because approximately 370 officers cannot
serve on a 24/7 basis. DPS also reported that officers are often
hanpered by delayed notification, |ong response distance, and
the uncertainties of weather and transportation. He agreed with
Comm ssioner Folger that the problenms in Anchorage spread to
other parts of the state. There is a definite cause and effect,
he sai d.

He shared that 30 public safety enployees are eligible to retire
bet ween now and Septenber 2016. That includes about 10 percent
of the troopers in the state. It takes tine and noney to train
people to take those positions and it's nore difficult to
recruit and retain enployees than it used to be.

2:37:48 PM
SENATOR M CClI CHE asked what the average length of service is for
the 700 to 800 sworn and unsworn officers in the union.

MR. METCALFE offered to follow up with the information

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -10- March 27, 2015



SENATOR M CCICHE asked if PSEA has considered surveying its
menbership to understand what mght make the departnent nore
attractive.

MR. METCALFE said they've |ooked at Internet surveys and
partnering with other organizations to do that because it's an
i mportant tool.

CHAIR MCGQUIRE asked him to keep the commttee abreast of any
survey information

MR. METCALFE comented on the different ways and reasons
enpl oyers conduct surveys.

SENATOR M CCICHE encouraged him to pursue a nenbership wde
survey.

SENATOR COSTELLO asked how serious the problem is that 10
percent of the trooper force is eligible to retire next year.

MR. METCALFE said enployees don't all Ileave when they're
eligible to retire, but it's definitely a concern. Another
consideration is that as positions are cut the renaining
enpl oyees are doing nore work w thout additional conpensati on.

SENATOR COGHI LL nentioned quality of live and asked if he could
share information about grievances filed because it mght be a
useful indicator.

MR. METCALFE said he can't think of a grievance related to
quality of life but issues for rural troopers are the cost of
living, the isolation, and the expense to travel back and forth
to work. He noted that flex scheduling has been hel pful in sonme
ci rcunstances. He opined that the best thing for rural Al aska is
to have police officers that are invested in the conmunity.
Modern technology solutions |ike the ConpStat algorithm for
staffing has worked in large communities and it mght or m ght
not work here.

CHAIR MCGQUIRE thanked M. Metcal fe and recognized Mayor
Sul i van.

2:49: 34 PM

DAN SULLI VAN, Mayor, Minicipality of Anchorage, referenced the
UCR index crime statistics for 2009-2013 that Detective Bell
provided and pointed out that five of the seven categories are

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -11- March 27, 2015



flat or show a decline. He also referenced APD s historical
crinme trends for 2004-2008 versus 2009-2014 and pointed out that
the conbined incident rate per 100,000 population was down for
the previous five years. It's also a good trend that five of the
seven crime categories are down for the previous five years
conpared to 2004-2008.

He explained that in response to the spike in violent crine in
January, APD inplenented a nultiagency task force that
acconplished what it was supposed to. The statistics so far show
that APD has made 26 arrests, searched 7 vehicles, seized 40
guns, seized 9$41,500 in cash, issued 3 citations for public
consunption of marijuana, and 5 warrants for MCS. He described
the January spike as an anomaly and highlighted that in 2014
Anchorage had the | owest nunber of nurders in 20 years.

MAYOR SULLI VAN said it's inportant to realize that fewer crines
are reported in Anchorage today than 30 years ago when the
popul ation was 120,000 smaller. That shows that, overall,
Anchorage is a safe city, he said.

Addressing the issue of staffing, he said that as soon as MOA
was financially capable it began to add back to the police
departnment. There was an acadeny in 2011 and 2013 and two
academ es in 2014. A new acadeny starts in May and another in
Novenber. He expressed confidence that this will put the sworn
officer |level at about 400, which is on track for the conmunity
policing goals. He said the PERF Report made sone suggestions
t hat have been inplenmented. Patrol officers are on regul ar beats
getting to know the business people, the troubl emakers, and who
gi ves good i nformation.

He highlighted that in 2003 the APD budget was $45 nillion and
in 2014 it nore than doubled to $95 nillion. Inflation grew at
about 30 percent over that period so there's been no |ack of
comm tnment nonetarily. The challenge has been that the cost per
enpl oyee has risen dramatically.

CHAIR MCGUI RE asked if the taskforce has decided to recomend
i ncreasing the nunmber of police officers in the vice unit, the
gang unit, and the special investigations unit.

MAYOR SULLI VAN explained that those sorts of recomendations
come from the professionals in the police departnent. He
clarified that there never was a gang unit per se, but grow ng
the departnment wll ensure that areas of deficiency are
addr essed.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -12- March 27, 2015



3:00: 32 PM

SENATOR ELLIS noted that he and forner Senator Fred Dyson tal ked
for nore than a decade about the com ng epidemc of heroin and
opi oid addiction. He asked Mayor Sullivan if he had heard from
other local officials about increases in the use of black tar
heroin that's comng in fromthe Mexican cartels.

MAYOR SULLI VAN answered yes and it's a shared concern statew de.
He highlighted that as of 3/25/2015 the Street Crinmes Task Force
seized [284.95 grans of nethanphetam ne, 53.27 grans of heroin,
.7 grans of cocaine, 16.35 grans of narijuana, 1457.2 grams of
mari j uana edi bl es, .52 grans of norphine, and 1 Fentanyl patch.]

SENATOR M CCICHE asked if he had any ideas on how to nake it
unpl easant for the people who deal and inport drugs into Al askan
comuni ties.

MAYOR SULLI VAN replied it's a conbination of factors. There has
to be good intel that leads to arrests and a crimnal justice
system has to provide penalties that are sufficiently stiff to
either renmove the people from the street for long periods or
deter themall together.

SENATOR COSTELLO asked what the taskforce is tasked with doing.

MAYOR SULLIVAN replied it's an information sharing organization
that is designed to break down interagency silos to ensure that
comuni cati on takes pl ace.

SENATOR W ELECHOWEKI asked how the | egislature can hel p.

MAYOR SULLI VAN said it would be hel pful to have grant nonies for
specific things like overtime to work drug crines or adding
speci al i sts.

CHAI R MCGUI RE thanked Mayor Sullivan asked him to forward any
further information that cones out of the taskforce. She
wel comed M. Allridge.

3:07: 08 PM

CHRI STOPHER  ALLRI DGE, Correctional O ficer I, Anchor age
Correctional Conplex, related that when he first started working
corrections in 2006, prisoners of all races and ethnicity lived,
ate, and worked together w thout many problens. However, as tine
went by inmates started to self-segregate and gang recruitnent
and activity cropped up "within the walls.” There was a rise in

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -13- March 27, 2015



assaults anong inmates and on staff and they started to see
rapes and nore extortion. Staff was threatened and harassed. The
inmates that returned from Colorado brought back different
habits and there's been a rise in gang recruitnents,
particularly anong the young and easily influenced innmates.

MR. ALLRI DGE reasoned that the inmates started to segregate into
groups as they felt less safe and secure within the facility.
They have to depend on each other because there are no | onger
enough corrections officers to provide that type of security.

CHAI R MCCGUI RE thanked M. Allridge for his work and perspecti ve.

3:11: 52 PM

There being no further business to cone before the commttee,
Chair MQiire adjourned the Senate Judiciary Standing Conmttee
meeting at 3:11 p.m

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -14- March 27, 2015



